RECEIVED

Feb 02 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Georgetown County
Court of Common Pleas
William H. Seals Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-22-00503
App. No. 2022-001756

Casey A. Wesley, individually and as personal
representative of the Estate of Howard Wayne Wesley,

Respondent,

v.

Jay Thomas Johnson, M.D.,

Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
JAY THOMAS JOHNSON, M.D.**

Hood Law Firm, LLC

Robert H. Hood, Jr. (SC# 13491)

bobbyjr.hood@hoodlaw.com

Evan M. Sobocinski (SC #104259)

evan.sobocinski@hoodlaw.com

Deborah H. Sheffield, *Of Counsel* (SC #2757)

deborah.sheffield@hoodlaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

Where the Plaintiff asserts a claim of medical negligence against an emergency room physician for the death of her husband who was killed by his son three days after the physician discharged the son from the ER, did the Trial Court err in holding that the physician owed a duty to his patient's father under Bishop v. S.C. Department of Mental Health, 331 S.C. 79, 502 S.E.2d 78 (1998), or Hardee v. Bio-Medical Applications of SC, 370 S.C. 511, 636 S.E.2d 629 (2006)?

- I. Is there any evidence to support imposing a duty on Dr. Johnson to warn his patient's father under the special relationship exception articulated in Bishop?
 - A. Does the Bishop exception apply where the patient presented to the emergency room seeking a voluntary commitment to a mental health facility?
 - B. Does the Bishop exception apply where there is no evidence that the patient made any specific threat to harm his father?

- II. Is there any evidence to support imposing a duty on Dr. Johnson to his patient's father as a reasonably foreseeable third-party victim under the narrow exception articulated in Hardee?
 - A. Does the Hardee exception apply where Dr. Johnson did not provide any treatment to his patient which he knew would have detrimental effects on his patient's potential for violence?
 - B. Does the Hardee exception apply where any duty owed would have been to warn the patient of the attendant risks and effects before administering any potentially detrimental treatment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This medical malpractice action arises out of the death of Howard Wayne Wesley ("Wayne" or "father") who was killed by this son, Andrew Tucker Wesley ("Tucker"), on June 19, 2017. Mr. Wesley's widow, Casey Wesley, brings this action in her capacity as the personal representative of his estate, asserting causes of action for survival and wrongful death as well as a cause of action for loss of consortium. She alleges that Dr. Jay Thomas Johnson was negligent in his care and treatment of Tucker while he was a patient in the emergency room at Waccamaw Community Hospital on June 14-16, 2017.

The Plaintiff initially filed a summons and complaint on May 28, 2019, asserting claims against Dr. Johnson, the Hospital, and another E.R. physician, Joseph Michael Ratliffe, M.D. [See ROA ___; Docket Sheet.] However, she subsequently filed an amended complaint on January 30, 2020. [ROA ___; Amended Complaint.] The Hospital and Dr. Ratliffe filed answers, but they since have been dismissed from this action. [ROA ___; Stipulation of Dismissal (Ratliffe), filed 12/03/20. ROA ___; Stipulation of Dismissal (Waccamaw), filed 6/6/22.]

Dr. Johnson filed his answer to the amended complaint on February 12, 2020, denying the allegations of medical negligence and asserting various defenses. [ROA ___; Answer.] Dr. Johnson moved for summary judgment by motion filed October 5, 2020, on the grounds that the he did not owe any duty of care to the father of his patient under Bishop v. S. C. Dep't of Mental Health, 331 S.C. 79, 502 S.E.2d 78 (1998), and related precedents. [ROA ___; Motion. ROA ___; Memorandum in Support, filed January 18, 2021.] The motion came before the Honorable Bentley D. Price, who granted summary judgment to Dr. Johnson, ruling that under the controlling precedent of Bishop, there was no duty to protect Mr. Wesley in the absence of "any evidence the medical staff knew or reasonably should have known that Tucker Wesley made specific threats of

harm to his father." [ROA ___; Order p. 6, filed 2/10/21.] Plaintiff filed a motion for reconsideration on February 12, 2021, reasserting the same arguments and arguing that discovery was not yet complete because Tucker, the hospital staff, and a consulting psychiatrist had not yet been deposed. [ROA ___; Motion, p. 18 n. 5.] Judge Price granted the motion to reconsider, directing that "the parties should complete discovery; and the Motions for Summary Judgment can be reconsidered without the necessity of refileing." [ROA ___; Order, filed 2/22/21.]

After discovery was completed, Dr. Johnson and the Plaintiff both filed motions for summary judgment on the duty issue. [ROA ___; Plaintiff motion for partial summary judgment, filed 8/31/22. ROA ___; Johnson motion for summary judgment, filed 9/1/22.] The motions came before the Honorable William H. Seals Jr., who denied Dr. Johnson's motion and granted partial judgment to Plaintiff, holding that:

A reasonably foreseeable third party, as explained in the Bishop and Hardee cases, may initiate an action against a physician under limited circumstances. In this case, taking into account the patient's history of mental illness, diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia with an antisocial personality disorder, and history of violence targeting at his father, the court finds that this constitutes those limited circumstances.

[ROA ___; Form 4 Order, filed 11/18/22.] Dr. Johnson timely filed a notice of appeal on December 14, 2022. [ROA ___; NOA.]

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue of whether Dr. Johnson owed a duty to the father of his patient is a question of law for the court and subject to de novo review on appeal:

A motion for summary judgment on the basis of the absence of a duty is a question of law for the court to determine. *See Doe v. Greenville County Sch. Dist.*, 375 S.C. 63, 72, 651 S.E.2d 305, 309 (2007) (recognizing that whether a duty exists is a question of law for the courts).

Oblachinski v. Reynolds, 391 S.C. 557, 706 S.E.2d 844, 845 (2011); Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008) ("[T]his court reviews questions of law de novo."). *See also S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Calhoun Cnty. Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 854 S.E.2d 836, 837 (2021) ("When the parties file cross-motions for summary judgment, the issue becomes a question of law for the Court to decide de novo.")

ARGUMENT

**THERE IS NO EVIDENTIARY BASIS TO SUPPORT IMPOSING A DUTY ON
DR. JOHNSON OWED TO HIS PATIENT'S FATHER UNDER THE PRECEDENT OF
BISHOP V. S.C. DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH OR
HARDEE V. BIO-MEDICAL APPLICATIONS.**

I. Applicable Law on Duties to Warn – The General Rules with Limited Exceptions

The existence of a legal duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff is an essential element of any negligence cause of action. Rogers v. S.C. Dep't of Parole & Community Corrections, 320 S.C. 253, 464 S.E.2d 330, 332 (1995). In this case, the question is whether Dr. Johnson owed any duty to his patient's father.

The general negligence rule is "one has no duty to control the dangerous conduct of another or to warn a potential victim of such conduct." 464 S.E.2d at 332; Bishop v. S. C. Dep't of Mental Health, 331 S.C. 79, 502 S.E.2d 78, 81 (1998). In a medical malpractice cause of action, "the general rule [is] that medical providers do not owe a duty to third party non-patients." Hardee v. Bio-Medical Applications of S.C., Inc., 370 S.C. 511, 636 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2006). Exceptions to

these general rules can be found in certain limited circumstances as articulated in Bishop and Hardee.

The Court has recognized an exception to the general negligence rule where a special relationship exists:

[W]hen a defendant has the ability to monitor, supervise, and control an individual's conduct, a special relationship exists between the defendant and the individual, and the defendant may have a common law duty to warn potential victims of the individual's dangerous conduct.

Bishop, 502 S.E.2d at 81 (citing Rogers, supra). Such a special relationship may exist between a physician/psychiatrist and his patient where the physician/psychiatrist has custody and control of the patient such as under an involuntary commitment order, but a duty to warn the victim only arises where the physician/psychiatrist is aware of a specific threat made by the patient to harm a specific, identifiable person. Bishop, id. ("This duty to warn arises when the individual has made a specific threat of harm directed at a specific individual.").

In Hardee, the Court made a very narrow holding that carved out an exception to the general medical malpractice rule in limited circumstances where a physician provides treatment to a patient that creates a risk of harm to reasonably foreseeable third parties:

[A] medical provider who provides treatment which it knows may have detrimental effects on a patient's capacities and abilities owes a duty to prevent harm to patients and to reasonably foreseeable third parties by warning the patient of the attendant risks and effects before administering the treatment.

636 S.E.2d at 631-32. However, under that exception, the duty to the foreseeable third party is a duty to warn the patient of the risk.

In granting partial summary judgment to the Plaintiff, Judge Seals held that:

A reasonably foreseeable third party, as explained in the Bishop and Hardee cases, may initiate an action against a physician under limited circumstances. In this case, taking into account the patient's history of mental illness, diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia with an antisocial personality disorder, and history of violence targeting at his father, the court finds that this constitutes those limited circumstances. [ROA ___; 11/18/22 Order.]

The circumstances in this case and evidence of record as set forth below do not support imposing a duty on Dr. Johnson owed to the father under either exception. A duty owed to the father cannot be found under the "special relationship" exception articulated in Bishop because Tucker presented to the ER for voluntary commitment, and moreover, no one had informed the ER staff or Dr. Johnson of any specific threat of harm made by Tucker against his father. A duty owed to the father cannot be found under the very narrow medical malpractice exception recognized in Hardee because Dr. Johnson did not administer any treatment that had any potential detrimental effect of provoking Tucker to kill his father as a foreseeable victim; and in any event, such duty would have been to warn Tucker – the patient, not his father.

II. Statement of the Facts

The evidence submitted by the parties on their cross motions for summary judgment establishes the following undisputed facts.

The deceased Wayne Wesley was the father of Tucker Wesley. The Plaintiff Casey Wesley was married to Mr. Wesley at the time in question. Karin Wesley is the mother of Tucker. At the time in question, Tucker was 23 years old. He lived in an apartment at his father's boat shop and worked for his father.¹

¹ It appears that Tucker began living at the boat shop in late 2014. [ROA ___; Karin Wesley Dep. p 71.]

Tucker had a history of mental illness and had been diagnosed as a paranoid schizophrenic with an antisocial personality disorder. He had been hospitalized in various facilities, numerous times over a span of years dating from 2012. Some of the hospitalizations were voluntary, but on other occasions, they were court-ordered involuntary commitments. Tucker was a regular patient in the Waccamaw Mental Health Center, an outpatient clinic, and he had been seen in the Waccamaw Community Hospital emergency room a number of times. However, the Waccamaw Hospital does not have inpatient mental health beds. [See generally ROA ___-___; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – selected excerpts of medical records. See also ROA ___-___; Plaintiff's Ex. 5 – Karin Wesley Journal.]

On Wednesday, June 14, 2017, Tucker had an argument with his father and called his mother to come get him. [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 1 – Karin Wesley Dep. p. 105.] Mother/Karin recounted in her journal that the father had described the argument as "Tucker was verbally aggressive and defiant," and that Tucker "was very angry/upset with his dad" about working conditions. [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 5 – Journal 0003.] Karin also noted in her journal that: "On Wednesday the 14th of June, Tucker was agitated; verbally abusive to Wayne; argumentative, defiant, destructive with Wayne's business/jobs over the past few days/weeks." [ROA ___; Ex. 5 - 0015.]

When Mother/Karin arrived at the boat shop to pick up Tucker, they discussed whether he wanted to go to a hospital. [ROA ___-___; Plaintiff Ex. 1 - Karin Wesley Dep. pp. 105-107.] Tucker himself called McLeod Hospital to try to get admitted, but was unsuccessful. He then called his caseworker [Lashanda Nesmith] who told him to go to the ER. On the drive to the emergency room at Waccamaw Hospital, Tucker told his mother that: "I planned on killing you today." [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 1 – Karin Wesley Dep. p. 108/15-16.]

Karin did not accompany Tucker into the hospital; instead, she dropped him off at the emergency room. She then drove around to the other side of the hospital and informed two security guards that she had dropped her son off at the ER and that he was in a full-blown psychosis and he had planned to kill her. [ROA ___-___; Plaintiff Ex. 1 – Karin Wesley Dep. pp. 109-110.] Meanwhile, Tucker voluntarily checked by himself into the ER. At some point later on Wednesday, Karin called into the hospital and relayed information about Tucker's story. [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 1 – Karin Wesley Dep. p. 111.] The ER record notes that "his mother called and states that he threatened to kill his neighbor and her." [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – Waccamaw ER records 0011.]

The initial ER triage paperwork stated as the reason for visit: "hearing voices, schizophrenia, voluntary com." [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – Waccamaw ER records 0014.] The ER record notes that Tucker was "well known to the emergency department with a long-standing history of schizophrenia reports recurrent auditory hallucinations." [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0011.] However, the notes indicate that on this ER visit, he did not appear overtly psychotic and he denied suicidal or homicidal ideations. [Id.] During his ER visit, Tucker was examined by three ER physicians and he was also evaluated by a consulting psychiatrist (via teleconference).

Dr. Gibson, the first ER physician to see Tucker on Wednesday, initiated steps to prepare an Application for Involuntary Emergency Hospitalization for Mental Illness as provided in S.C. Code Ann. §§44-17-410, et seq. [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0049-0051.]² Dr. Gibson prepared a certification in support of the application and recommended involuntary emergency hospitalization based on his statement that: "Pt well known to the ER long standing hx of schizophrenia. Admits to medical [sic] compliance. Mother states he threatened to kill her & a

² The application was prepared by a registered nurse (Garvey). [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0049]

neighbor. No SI." [ROA ____; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0051.] However, it does not appear that the application was forwarded to the probate court for filing.

Meanwhile, the next day on Thursday, Tucker was seen by Dr. Ratliffe, the ER physician who came on duty that morning, he noted that Tucker was "not grossly psychotic and is much more cooperative than when I previously [sic] seen him." Dr. Ratliffe was awaiting on a psychiatric recommendation. [ROA ____; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0006.]

In the early afternoon, Tucker was evaluated by a psychiatrist (Dr. Beck) who saw no indication for hospitalization. [ROA ____; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0027-28.] As Dr. Beck recorded, Tucker "came to the ED after an argument with his father. He said that he thought, 'Screw it. I'll go to the hospital.' He lives above his father's boat shop, does not like it and says that he wants to go to a psychiatric hospital and wait for a social worker to find him a new apartment." [Id.] Dr. Beck further reported that "his mood is 'not so good' because of the argument with his father. His energy and appetite are 'very good.' He denied suicidal or homicidal ideation and he has never attempted suicide. Specifically he is not homicidal toward his mother or his neighbor...." [Id.]

At some point on Thursday, the Stepmother/Casey Wesley called the ER and spoke with Dr. Ratliffe to express her concerns about Tucker.³ Stepmother/Casey testified that: "I knew [Dr. Ratliffe] had taken care of him before. And I just told him the last thing I had heard was my husband said he was having increased agitation and to please keep him and get him placed." [ROA ____; Plaintiff Ex. 3 – Casey Wesley Dep. p. 41/3-6.] Dr. Ratliffe testified: "[S]he said that she was concerned about Tucker and wanted him to get help. ... She was concerned, as I've listed it, with agitation, anger, has been escalating the last few days, and she was concerned that he would decompensate if discharged." [ROA ____; Plaintiff Ex. 8 - Ratliffe Dep p. 105/2-9.]

³ Casey was a former employee at the same ER.

Following his conversation with Stepmother/Casey, Dr. Ratliffe noted in the medical record on Thursday afternoon that he disagreed with Dr. Beck's recommendation, based on his knowledge of Tucker's history and the Stepmother's concerns:

Based on his previous history I certainly understand her concern. At this point I think it's reasonable to see if Case Management can get the patient a spot another facility as he is continuing to complaint of auditory hallucinations and is actually requesting help.

[ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0004]. The medical record shows that the ER staff already had found a placement for Tucker at Lighthouse [Behavioral Health in Conway], but Tucker and his family objected to that facility and requested that placement be found at a different facility. [Id.; See also ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 8 - Ratliffe Dep. p. 105.]

On Friday morning, Dr. Johnson came on duty in the ER. After evaluating Tucker and reviewing the consult from Dr. Beck, Dr. Johnson decided to discharge Tucker. Dr. Johnson noted in the medical record that Tucker was back on his medication and he had no thoughts of harming himself or others, and that the psychiatrist (Dr. Beck) had "recommended outpatient management with no indication for involuntary commitment." [ROA __; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0003.] Dr. Johnson also completed a Reexamination and Amendment to Certificate of Licensed Physician documenting his opinion that Tucker was no longer in need of immediate, involuntary admission based on his improved symptoms and "Dr, Beck feels safe for out pt treatment." [ROA ___; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0048.]

When Mother/Karin was contacted by an ER nurse on Friday morning and informed that Tucker was being discharged, Karin demanded to speak with a physician. She testified that she spoke with Dr. Johnson and told him that Tucker had guns, that he had attacked people, that he had multiple ER visits. [ROA ___; Plaintiff's Ex. 1 – Karin Wesley Dep. p. 117.] According to her journal, Mother/Karin disputed the physician's conclusion that Tucker was not in psychosis,

and she told Dr. Johnson about Tucker's past experiences: "He's had a shot gun, a rifle, a bow and arrow, he's physically assaulted 3 unsuspecting people ...and not one time did we see it coming." [ROA ____; Plaintiff Ex. 5 - 009.]

Tucker was discharged on Friday morning at which time he was given a prescription for Abilify and paperwork informing that he had an appointment for his regular bi-weekly injection at the Waccamaw Mental Health Center on Monday, June 19, 2017. [ROA ____; Plaintiff Ex. 7 – 0015.] Tucker was picked up by his mother/Karin on Friday and she took him home to his apartment at his father's shop and had the prescription for Abilify filled. [ROA ____; Plaintiff Ex. 1 – Karin Wesley Dep. p. 125.]

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