**RECEIVED**

**May 05 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Th Honorable William H. Seals, Jr.  
Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-22-00503  
Appellate Case No. 2022-001756

Casey A. Wesley, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of  
Howard Wayne Wesley, ..... Respondent,

v.

Jay Thomas Johnson, M.D., ..... Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CASEY A. WESLEY, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS  
PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF HOWARD WAYNE WESLEY**

John P. Linton, Jr. (SC Bar #79130)  
Jennifer S. Ivey (SC Bar #102533)  
WALKER GRESSETTE & LINTON, LLC

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

### ARGUMENT

South Carolina, like many other states, permits non-patients to bring medical malpractice claims against a physician when the non-patient is harmed by the physician’s malpractice in treating his patient and the injured non-patient is a reasonably foreseeable third party.<sup>16</sup>

The South Carolina Supreme Court first announced this rule in Bishop v. South Carolina Dep’t of Mental Health, stating there: “A reasonably foreseeable third party, who is harmed by a

---

<sup>16</sup> While no duty was found to exist in Bishop, the South Carolina Supreme Court pronounced that South Carolina would follow California, Florida, and New York in allowing third parties to recover for a physician’s malpractice under certain circumstances. 331 S.C. at 91-92, 502 S.E.2d at 84. These jurisdiction’s rules of non-patient duty are expressed in, *inter alia*: Molien v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals, 27 Cal. 3d 916, 167 Cal. Rptr. 831, 616 P.2d 813 (1980); Hofmann v. Blackmon, 241 So. 2d 752 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1970); Wojcik v. Aluminum Co. of America, 18 Misc. 2d 740, 183 N.Y.S.2d 351 (N.Y. Sup. 1959).

Other jurisdictions also follow the same or a similar rule. See, e.g., Warren v. Dinter, 926 N.W.2d 370, 377 (Minn. 2019); Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wash.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (Wash. 2016); Estates of Morgan v. Fairfield Family Counseling Ctr., 77 Ohio St. 3d 284, 673 N.E.2d 1311 (Ohio 1997); Ritchie v. Krasner, 221 Ariz. 288, 211 P.2d 1272, 1279 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2009); Plowman v. Fort Madison Cmty. Hosp., 869 N.W.2d 393, 401 (Iowa 2017); Horton v. Or. Health & Sci. Univ., 277 Or. App. 821, 373 P.3d 1158, 1162 (Or. App. 2016).

physician's malpractice in treating a patient, may initiate an action against a physician under limited circumstances." 331 S.C. 79, 92, 502 S.E.2d 78, 84 (1998). The Court has applied the rule in two subsequent cases: first, in Hardee v. Bio-Medical Applications of South Carolina, Inc., 370 S.C. 511, 636 S.E.2d 629 (2006); and, then again, in Oblachinski v. Reynolds, 391 S.C. 557, 706 S.E.2d 844 (2011). In Hardee, the Court found a legal duty exists when a medical provider is negligent in their acts or omissions in discharging a patient and a foreseeable third party is injured. 370 S.C. 511, 636 S.E.2d 629 (2006). The duty the provider owes to reasonably foreseeable parties harmed by the patient is the same as the duty the provider owes to the patient. Id. at 516, 632.

Respondents' motion for partial summary judgment was correctly decided under the above precedent and should be affirmed. Of these three cases, Hardee is the case where the Court found the facts supported imposition of a duty and, like this case, involved a medical provider's omissions and failures in discharging its patient. From a factual standpoint, this case stands on all fours with Hardee and is materially different from the facts in the cases Dr. Johnson cites.

Hardee involved negligent acts and omissions in administering dialysis and injuries caused by the patient after leaving the provider's care. 370 S.C. at 513, 636 S.E.2d at 630. The patient in Hardee was a diabetic, who after receiving hemodialysis treatment, left the medical clinic. Id. The patient went into insulin shock while he was driving, which caused him to lose control of his vehicle and strike plaintiffs' vehicle, resulting in serious injury to the plaintiffs. Id.

The plaintiffs' allegations of malpractice in Hardee were focused on the clinic's *omissions* in evaluating, monitoring, and discharging its patient following the dialysis treatment. Id. at 513, 630. The plaintiffs alleged the clinic failed to explain to the patient the ill effects that could result from his dialysis treatment (particularly in his diabetic condition), failed to perform normal post-treatment tests on the diabetic patient, and failed to monitor him prior to his release. Id. The

Supreme Court used the first of these omissions to demonstrate why the clinic owed a legal duty to third parties. Id. at 515-16, 631-32.

The throughline of Dr. Johnson’s argument is that treatment triggers a duty to third parties under Hardee, and he owed no duty to Wayne because he neglected to treat Tucker. (**App. Br. at 1, 16**). Dr. Johnson’s suggestion that he should be able to avoid liability because he refused to treat and negligently discharged Tucker is completely undercut by Hardee. See Hardee, 370 S.C. 511, 636 S.E.2d 629 (2006). The Court was clear in Hardee that acts *and omissions* can give rise to negligence, even when the duty is owed to a non-patient, third party. Id. at n. 1.<sup>17</sup>

In fact, the Supreme Court held the duty the clinic owed extended to an expansive class of third parties:

Appellants argue that . . . **Respondent breached a duty a medical provider owes to those persons in the general field of danger (that is, the motoring public) which should reasonably have been foreseen by Respondent when it administered the treatment.**

We believe South Carolina tort law ought to recognize such a duty.

. . . a medical provider who provides treatment which it knows may have detrimental effects on a patient’s capacities and abilities owes a duty to prevent harm to patients and to reasonably foreseeable third parties . . . .

Id. at 515-16, 631-32 (footnote omitted) (emphasis added).

The clinic owed a legal duty to the entire “motoring public” and the plaintiffs fell within this expansive class of third parties to whom a duty was owed. Id.

---

<sup>17</sup> The notion behind the general rule of no duty to non-patients is grounded in the theory that “by ‘misfeasance’ the defendant has created a new risk of harm to the plaintiff, while by ‘nonfeasance’ he has at least made his situation no worse, and has merely failed to benefit him by interfering in his affairs.” W. Keeton, D. Dobbs, R. Keeton, & D. Owen, Prosser and Keeton on The Law of Torts § 56, at 373 (5th ed. 1984). The situation is quite the opposite here. Dr. Johnson made Tucker, and Wayne’s permanent situation much worse.

The circuit court correctly decided this case under Hardee. The duty, breach, and causation in this case are the same as the allegations in Hardee. The class of people to whom a duty was owed is much smaller than in Hardee, and there is no factual dispute that Tucker's father, Wayne, was within this small group of people.

Dr. Johnson's focus on Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 394, 645 S.E.2d 245, 248 (2007), Gilmer v. Martin, 323 S.C. 154, 473 S.E.2d 812 (Ct. App. 1996), and Rogers v. S.C. Dep't of Parole & Community Corrections, 320 S.C. 253, 464 S.E.2d 330 (1995), is misplaced.<sup>18</sup> See, e.g., (App. Br. at 4-21). This is *not*, and never has been, a case involving a duty to warn based upon a specific threat of harm. See (Hr'g. Tr. Nov. 17, 2022 at 10:11-23); (Pl.'s Mot. to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend filed Feb. 12, 2021); (Pl.'s Memo.). Instead, this is a case where duty is *not* dependent on the existence of a specific threat of harm towards the non-patient plaintiff.

The circuit court's order should be affirmed because a medical provider owes a duty to a foreseeable third party who is injured as a result of the provider's negligent acts or omissions in discharging its patient and there is no genuine issue of material fact in this case that Wayne was a reasonably foreseeable third party injured as a result of Dr. Johnson's negligence in discharging

---

<sup>18</sup> In each of those cases, the non-patients argued the medical providers owed a duty to warn them of their patient's predilection for certain acts. See Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 394, 645 S.E.2d 245, 248 (2007) (alleging that the psychiatrist-defendant was negligent in failing to warn authorities of his patient's predilection for child molestation); Gilmer v. Martin, 323 S.C. 154, 473 S.E.2d 812 (Ct. App. 1996) (alleging that the psychiatrist-defendant failed to warn nursing home patients that his patient, one of its employees, was dangerous and posed a threat of harm to the patients at the nursing home); Rogers v. S.C. Dep't of Parole & Community Corrections, 320 S.C. 253, 464 S.E.2d 330 (1995) (arguing the Department of Parole and Community Corrections should have warned the plaintiff's mother of the inmate's release on furlough because the inmate was serving time for previous break-ins at the mother's home). There are no allegations in any of these cases that the plaintiffs were harmed as a result of the acts and omissions the provider took in treating or discharging its patient. Id.

Tucker. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court's grant of partial summary judgment finding Dr. Johnson owed Wayne a legal duty.

**I. The circuit court's order must be affirmed because a physician owes a legal duty to reasonably foreseeable third parties who are harmed by the physician's malpractice in discharging his patient.**

The circuit court correctly found that Dr. Johnson owed a duty to Wayne in this case. Wayne was within the general field of danger upon Tucker's discharge from the hospital. More to the point, he was one of a handful of people who the experts in this case agreed were in a very specific field of danger. This is not just the opinion of Respondent's expert forensic psychiatrist, but it is also the opinion of Dr. Frierson, Dr. Johnson's expert. Because the parties' experts universally agree that Wayne was one of the most likely people to be injured by Tucker in the event he was discharged, the circuit court's decision granting summary judgment must be affirmed.

The facts bearing on this analysis are not in dispute. Wayne was Tucker's father. (**Am. Compl.**); (**App. Br. at 2**). Tucker had the most intimate and regular contact with his father—he lived and worked in his father's boat shop. (**Pl.'s Memo., Ex. 1, Karin Wesley Depo., at 104:24-105:1**); (**App. Br. at 6**). Tucker had a long-standing history of schizophrenia and reported persistent voices in his head telling him to do things. (**Pl.'s Memo., Ex. 7, at Bates No. A. Wesley\_WCH 0011, 0051**); (**App. Br. at 8**).

Tucker had become very violent and homicidal in the past. (**Pl.'s Memo., Ex. 7, at Bates No. A Wesley\_WCH 0004**); see generally (**App. Br.**). Wayne and Karin arranged for Tucker to live and work at Wayne's boat shop because they knew their son was dangerous and they were trying to do everything they could to keep him from hurting them or other people. (**Pl.'s Memo., Ex. 1, Karin Wesley Depo., at 82:13-25, 124:4-11**); see generally (**App. Br.**). Tucker had previously obtained access to guns, committed homicidal acts, and violently assaulted Wayne.

**(Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 1, Karin Wesley Depo., at 22-30); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 5, Karin Wesley Journal); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 13); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 7, A Wesley\_WCH 0004); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 4, Reed Wesley Depo., at 37:7-9); see generally (App. Br.). Tucker had threatened to kill his mother, his father, and his neighbor on different occasions. (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 4, Reed Wesley Depo., at 37:7-9); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 7, A Wesley\_WCH 0004, 0011, 0051); (App. Br. at 14); (App. Br. at 19-20).**

Tucker presented to the emergency room on June 14, 2017, after an argument with his father. **(Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 7, at Bates No. A Wesley\_WCH 0027); (App. Br. at 7).** Tucker reported to multiple providers that he was hearing voices in his head. **(Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 7, at Bates No. A Wesley\_WCH 0004, 0006, 0008, 0011, 0027, 0031, 0049, 0051); (App. Br. at 8).** Tucker described the voices as “constant,” “persistent,” “worsen[ing] over the past couple of days [prior to June 15, 2017],” “all over the place” and telling him to do certain things. **(Id.).**

Respondent reported to Dr. Ratliffe that Tucker’s agitation and anger had been escalating the days prior to the hospitalization and that she was concerned Tucker would decompensate if discharged. **(Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 7, at Bates No. A Wesley\_WCH 0004); (App. Br. at 9).** Hospital guards observed Tucker to be agitated during the hospitalization. **(Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 7, at Bates No. A Wesley\_WCH 0056).** Tucker told providers that he did not want to return to his father’s boat shop or to live there anymore and that his mood was not good because of the altercation with his father. **(Id.); (App. Br. at 9).** He wanted psychiatric help and to find another place to stay, away from his father. **(Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 7, at Bates No. A Wesley\_WCH 0027); (App. Br. at 9).**

Dr. Johnson had access to Tucker’s electronic medical records, not just from this June 2017 period of care, but from periods of prior care. **(Pl.’s Memo., at Ex. 9, Dr. Johnson Depo., at 63:24-64:7); (App. Br. at 18-19).** But what’s more, is that Dr. Johnson spoke to Tucker’s mother,

Karin, on June 16, 2017. (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 5, at Bates No. Karin Wesley 0009-0011); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 9, Dr. Johnson Depo., at 79-80); (App. Br. at 18). Karin told Dr. Johnson that Tucker had access to weapons, had physically assault people in the past, had been previously hospitalized, and could mask his symptoms. (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 5, at Bates No. Karin Wesley 0009-0011); (App. Br. at 10-11).<sup>19</sup>

The facts only show, as confirmed by the experts in this case – *including Dr. Johnson’s own expert* – that Wayne was a reasonably foreseeable third party who would be harmed by Tucker if he was not properly treated and placed. (Pl.’s Memo., at Ex. 9, Dr. Johnson Depo., at 63:24-64:7); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 11, Dr. Bourne Depo., at 90:22 – 92:2); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 12, Dr. Frierson Depo., at 70:10-20); (Pl.’s Memo., at Ex. 13). Critical to the experts were those family members who had close contact with Tucker. (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 11, Dr. Bourne Depo., at 90:22 – 92:2); (Pl.’s Memo., Ex. 12, Dr. Frierson Depo., at 70:10-20) (“[Do] you agree that Tucker’s family members were the most likely to be harmed by Tucker? . . . In general, I would say yes.”).<sup>20</sup>

---

<sup>19</sup> Karin’s conversation with Dr. Johnson, during which she detailed Tucker’s history of violence and the particulars of his illness, completely eviscerates Dr. Johnson’s argument that he can only be charged with knowledge of what was reflected in the medical records available to him on June 16, 2017.

<sup>20</sup> The information available to Dr. Johnson beyond the basic of facts of Tucker’s familial, living, and work arrangements just add to the foreseeability here. Most of the cases extending a duty to non-patients find the patient’s immediate family members to be reasonably foreseeable third parties. See, e.g., Hofmann v. Blackmon, 241 So. 2d 752 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1970) (finding a duty owing to members of the patient’s immediate family who lived in the same house); Pangburn v. Saad, 73 N.C. App. 336, 338-39, 326 S.E.2d 365, 367-68 (N.C. App. Ct. 1985) (finding a duty owing to the patient’s brother); Estates of Morgan v. Fairfield Family Counseling Ctr., 77 Ohio St. 3d 284, 673 N.E.2d 1311 (Ohio 1997) (finding a duty owing to the patient’s parents); Volk v. DeMeerler, 187 Wash.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (Wash. 2016) (finding a duty owing to the patient’s sons and girlfriend); Stewart v. Fakhrudin, 2010 WL 2134150 (Ct. App. Tenn. 2010) (unpublished opinion) (finding a duty owing to the patient’s daughter); Wojcik v. Aluminum Co. of America, 18 Misc. 2d 740, 183 N.Y.S.2d 351 (N.Y. Sup. 1959) (finding a duty owing to a

Dr. Johnson does not dispute the foregoing facts in his brief.<sup>21</sup> Instead, he attempts to avoid the inescapable conclusion that the evidence *only* supports affirming the circuit court’s conclusion of the existence of a duty by reading into Hardee a requirement that plainly does not exist: “proof of a specific threat of harm to a specific person.” (**App. Br. at 16**). His flawed analysis is as follows:

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